# FILED SID J WHITE 3/3/

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Child/ Deputy Clerk

#### THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant/Appellant,

vs.

JAMES R. MCATEE,

**Respondent/Appellee.** 

Case No. 83,174

TFB File No. 94-00481-01A

By

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR**

LOIS B. LEPP Bar Counsel, The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney Number 855634

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to The Florida Bar may include The Bar, The Complainant, or the Appellant. References to James R. McAtee may include the Respondent, Mr. McAtee, or the Appellee. References to the transcript of the final hearing on September 19, 1994 will be referred to as "T-

\_\_\_\_\_". References to the Report of Referee entered on November 3, 1994 will be referred to as "ROR, p. \_\_\_\_". The exhibits introduced by The Florida Bar consist of the entire record before this Court in Mr. McAtee's reinstatement case, Case No. 80,765 (TFB File No. 93-00419-01A-NRE). The Florida Bar's Composite Exhibit 1 consists of the pleadings from the reinstatement proceedings; The Florida Bar's Composite Exhibit 2 is the transcript of the June 19, 1993 reinstatement hearing; The Florida Bar's Composite Exhibit 3 consists of The Florida Bar's Exhibits 1 through 20 from the reinstatement proceedings; The Florida Bar's Composite Exhibit 3 consists of The Florida Bar's Exhibit 4 is the transcript of the July 20, 1993 telephonic hearing in the reinstatement matter; and The Florida Bar's Composite Exhibit 5 is the transcript of the July 26, 1993 telephonic supplemental hearing in the reinstatement proceedings. References to the exhibits entered into evidence will be made by the composite exhibit number followed by further identification within the exhibit. For example, "TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 13" refers to the report of referee at page 13 which is a part of The Florida Bar's Composite Exhibit 1. "SSA", as used by the Referee, refers to The Social Security Administration, Office of Hearings and Appeals. "ALJ" refers to the administrative law judges in the Social Security Administration, Office of Hearings of Appeals.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 9, 1992, this Court issued an order suspending Respondent from the practice of law for 91 days to be followed by three years probation upon his reinstatement. <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. McAtee</u>, 601 So. 2d 1199 (Fla. 1992). At all times since August 10, 1992, the effective date of the suspension, Respondent has remained suspended.

In November 1992, Respondent petitioned for reinstatement to The Florida Bar, which petition was denied in November 1993. During the course of Respondent's reinstatement proceedings, The Florida Bar discovered that Respondent had practiced law while he was suspended.

This contempt action stems from the Respondent's practice of law while suspended which was discovered during the reinstatement matter. On February 10, 1994, The Florida Bar filed a Petition for an Order to Show Cause asking this Court to hold Respondent in contempt and alleging the Respondent had engaged in the practice of law while suspended. On February 15, 1994, this Court issued an Order to Show Cause to Respondent requiring that the Respondent respond on or before March 7, 1994. On or about March 16, 1994, Respondent moved for an extension of time to file his response. On or about April 6, 1994, Respondent filed a response to the Order to Show Cause.

This matter was referred by this Court to the Referee on or about June 28, 1994. A final hearing was held before the Referee on September 19, 1994. The Report of the Referee was entered on November 3, 1994. The Referee's report recommended that Respondent be found guilty of willful contempt of court for his continued practice of law while suspended and recommended that he be suspended for two (2) years <u>nunc pro tunc</u> to June 19, 1993. The Florida Bar filed its Petition for Review on February 3, 1995.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### The Referee found the following facts:

Respondent is, and at all times pertinent to these proceedings was, a member of The Florida Bar and subject to the jurisdiction and disciplinary rules of the Supreme Court of Florida.

On July 9, 1992, Respondent was suspended for 91 days effective August 10, 1992. <u>The Florida Bar v. McAtee</u>, 601 So. 2d 1199 (Fla. 1992). Respondent was ordered not to accept any new clients after July 9, 1992. His suspension requires proof of rehabilitation before reinstatement.

A lawyer suspended from practice is required to comply with Rules 3-5.1(g) (requiring that a copy of the order of suspension be sent to all clients with matters pending and that the Bar be given an affidavit listing all clients so notified) and 3-6.1(c) (a suspended lawyer shall not have direct contact with any clients or receive, disburse, or otherwise handle trust funds or property).

On November 12, 1992, Respondent petitioned for reinstatement to The Florida Bar. Two months later the Bar moved to dismiss the petition. Final hearing on the petition was not held until June 19, 1993. Thereafter, two supplemental hearings were held. This Referee presided over those proceedings and recommended that Respondent be denied reinstatement. That recommendation was approved by the Supreme Court of Florida on November 18, 1993. Respondent is not eligible to petition for reinstatement to The Florida Bar until November 18, 1994.

In the aforementioned reinstatement proceedings, this Referee found that Mr. McAtee engaged in the practice of law during his suspension (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, page 8). That finding was a major factor in the recommendation that Respondent be denied reinstatement.

These proceedings were brought by The Florida Bar on February 10, 1994 pursuant to Rule 3-7.7(g). The Florida Bar seeks Respondent's disbarment for his allegedly contemptuous conduct.

Respondent argues that, while deserving of discipline, his conduct does not warrant disbarment. He points out that save the possible exception of a limited filing in a bankruptcy case, all of his misconduct pertained to his mistaken belief that he could practice before the Social Security Administration (SSA) as a lay practitioner. Respondent argues that he should be disciplined for his misconduct by no more than a two year suspension, <u>nunc pro tunc</u> June 19, 1993, the last date that he participated in a SSA case.

The Florida Bar argues that Respondent be held in contempt for failing to comply with Rule 3-5.1(g). Yet, it is undisputed that Respondent notified 44 clients of his suspension. TR 13. The Bar has only been able to present one witness, Mr. Adkins, that was not notified of the suspension. I find that failing to notify only one of forty-five clients of the suspension is not contemptuous conduct.

The Florida Bar also argues that Respondent should be held in contempt for disbursing funds from his trust account in violation of Rule 3-6.1(c). I find, however, that Respondent's only trust activity pertained to funds to which Respondent had ownership, e.g., earned fees. There is no evidence that Respondent received any funds in trust during his suspension. The only disbursements alluded to by the Bar were funds belonging to Respondent's mother in which he had a beneficial interest and payment to himself of earned fees and costs. This Referee notes that a strict interpretation of Rule 3-6.1(c) would prevent Respondent from returning unearned fees held in trust -- a situation clearly not contemplated by the rule.

I find that Respondent's failure to pay costs prior to the date on which they were paid, i.e. March 25, 1993, was not contemptuous conduct. The Bar cites no cases in which a seven month failure to pay costs resulted in a finding of contempt.

Obviously, the bulk of the Bar's allegations concern Respondent's practice before the Social Security Administration. At the outset, this Referee notes that Federal legal proceedings are preempted from state regulation. <u>Sperty v. Florida</u>, 373 U.S. 379, 83 S. Ct. 1322, 10 L.Ed. 2nd 428 (1963). While counsel for the SSA opined that a suspended lawyer could not practice before that agency, he was unable to cite any controlling authority for his opinion. TFB Comp. 5, p. 22.

The Bar presented sixteen instances wherein Respondent was counsel before the SSA on behalf of claimants. Of those sixteen cases, ten of them were pending at the time of Respondent's order of suspension (TFB Comp. 3, Exhibit 18, numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 11, 12, and 16). In only two cases (numbers 2 and 16) did Respondent actually appear before an ALJ. Those appearances were on March 4, 1993 and April 22, 1993 respectively. On one of the cases, (number 3), the only issue remaining had to do with Respondent's earned fees. Although Respondent signed up six new cases after his order of suspension came down, he appeared before an ALJ in none of them and testified that he anticipated his 91 day suspension ending prior to an actual appearance being required in the case. In none of those cases did Respondent receive fees. Substitute counsel was obtained in most cases. There is no evidence of any client's position being prejudiced as a result of Respondent's conduct.

Respondent testified, and the Bar did not rebut, that he appeared in no Florida courts during the period of his suspension. TR 20. He also testified that during the time that he had been chairman of the local unlicensed practice of law (UPL) committee in the he First Judicial Circuit, the issue of non-lawyer representation before the SSA arose. It was determined that, in fact, it was entirely proper for non-lawyers to appear before that agency. TR 17-19. Accordingly, Respondent assumed that appearing before the SSA during his suspension, since a license to practice law was not required, was not contempt of court.

There is no evidence that Respondent received any fees for any work done during his suspension.

I find that Respondent's last act as SSA counsel was a request for a continuance on June 19, 1993.

(ROR, pp. 3-7).

The Referee found that,

Respondent has engaged in willful contempt of court through his actions before the Social Security Administration. In mitigation, however, I find that Respondent has appeared before no Florida courts and that he labored under the good faith, albeit mistaken, belief that a suspended lawyer stood in the same shoes as a nonlawyer as to eligibility to practice before the SSA.

(ROR, p. 8).

The Referee considered that Respondent has been suspended for over two years for an offense which originally warranted a 91 day suspension (ROR, p. 8).

The Referee declined to hold Respondent in contempt for any other matters raised by The Florida Bar (ROR, p. 7). The Referee declined to hold the Respondent in contempt for his false testimony to the Referee during the reinstatement proceedings (ROR, p. 7).

The Florida Bar suggests the following additional facts should be considered:

In the course of closing down his law practice in order to serve the suspension,

Respondent sent a letter to his clients which indicated "During the period of suspension I will be doing some office work on your file so that the case will be ready for hearing. I have an attorney on stand-by who will proceed with your case in the event there is any activity during the suspension period." (TFB Comp. 3, Exh. 9).

Respondent's activity in the sixteen cases cited by the Referee which were pending before Social Security Administration (ROR, pp. 5-6) are set out more fully below.

The Respondent submitted five "Authority to Represent" forms in separate clients' matters to the Social Security Administration (form SSA-1696-U4). The forms, submitted on November 12, 1992; January 25, 1993; February 5, 1993; and two on March 9, 1993, were signed by the Respondent, who, in his own handwriting, wrote the title "attorney" under his name (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 10; TFB Comp. 3, Exh. 18, Cases 6, 8, 13, 14, and 15; TFB Comp. 3, Exh. 12).

Respondent does not dispute that he held himself out as an attorney when he submitted these forms (T-29, 32, 38). Respondent admits that he knew that his petition for reinstatement was pending when he submitted the forms which indicated he was an attorney but that he was hoping to be reinstated before the clients' matters were heard (T-26, 28-29).

While suspended, Respondent requested four separate continuance in three separate matters (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 10; TFB Comp. 3, Exh. 18, Cases 4, and 5; TFB Comp. 5, p. 20). Respondent requested the continuances by contacting the administrative law judges. According to one administrative law judge, Respondent requested a continuance because he was "not prepared" (TFB Comp. 3, Exh. 18, Case 5). In one instance, Respondent requested a continuance on July 21, 1993 - after the June 19, 1993 hearing on his reinstatement petition and just prior to the supplemental hearing on July 26, 1993 regarding his reinstatement petition (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 10; TFB Comp. 5, p. 20).

While suspended, Respondent had telephone contact with several administrative law judges regarding substantive issues in claimants' matters. In one case, Respondent indicated to the administrative law judge's clerk that he was trying to obtain necessary medical records. In another case, Respondent advised an administrative law judge's clerk that he would contact his client to have his client follow through in obtaining necessary medical records (TFB Comp. 3, Exh. 18, Cases 4 and 10).

Respondent filed several requests for Social Security Administration hearings on behalf of his clients while he was suspended (TFB Comp. 3, Exh. 18, Cases 11, 13, & 15). While suspended, Respondent had telephone conversations about the clients' legal matters with at least two clients, Frank Adkins and Roswell Howell (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 13). Additionally, Respondent met with Frank Adkins and prepared him for a hearing on April 22, 1993 (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 8).

While suspended, Respondent appeared at an evidentiary hearing as counsel for Mr. Adkins on April 22, 1993 (ROR, p. 6). During the April 22, 1993 hearing, Respondent advised

the administrative law judge that he was "the attorney for Mr. Adkins' interests" (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 8). The administrative law judge believed Respondent to be an attorney (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 8; TFB Comp. 3, Exh. 18, Case 16). Mr. Adkins hired an attorney to protect his legal rights and "felt betrayed" when he discovered that Respondent was not a member in good standing with The Florida Bar (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 9).

Respondent appeared at an evidentiary hearing as counsel to another client on March 4, 1993 (ROR, p. 6; TFB Comp. 3, Exh. 18, Case 2).

Respondent accepted at least six new clients after this Court directed him not to do so on July 9, 1992 (ROR, p. 6), including entering into two fee agreements on March 6, 1993 with clients in Social Security matters wherein he referred to himself as an "attorney" and where he was to be compensated at the attorney rate (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 11; TFB Comp. 3, Exh. 18, Cases 14 and 15).

In the reinstatement proceedings, this Referee found "it is clear that Respondent practiced regularly before the Social Security Administration. It is also clear that Respondent had direct contact with many clients about legal matters during his suspension. Respondent accepted representation of at least four new clients during the period of his suspension" (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 16). Respondent admits that at all times material hereto he was aware of Rule 3-6.1, Rules of Discipline, which prohibits direct client contact by a suspended lawyer (T-44).

This Referee previously found "Respondent held himself out as an attorney" when on August 31, 1992, Respondent sent a letter to various clients and tribunals on "attorney at law" letterhead which indicated a change of his address, despite being advised by The Florida Bar to refrain from using attorney letterhead (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 14).

Every action of Respondent before Social Security Administration indicated he was an attorney (T-54-55). Respondent admits that he never advised the administrative law judges that he was suspended (T-23). Respondent admits that the administrative law judges knew him in his capacity as an attorney and in no other capacity (T-49). Respondent admits that he did not advise

Social Security Administration that he was appearing as a lay representative (T-54-55). Respondent admits that his clients had hired him as an attorney (T-40). Respondent admits he never inquired of any administrative law judge whether he could appear as a lay representative (T-47-48). Social Security regulations do not permit a suspended attorney to appear as a lay representative (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, pp. 11-13).

This Referee previously found that Respondent's practice of law while suspended was not limited to practice before Social Security Administration. Respondent also practiced some bankruptcy law (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 13). Respondent advised the Referee that he had not withdrawn from any of his pending cases in any court; he just asked another attorney to cover for him if any court appearances were required (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, pp. 9, 14). Respondent admitted that he had not withdrawn from any cases which were pending in the state circuit courts (TFB Comp. 5, p. 33).

Respondent's last act as an attorney before the Social Security Administration was a request for a continuance filed on July 21, 1993 (T-51; TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 10).

The Referee previously found that Respondent made knowing misrepresentations to this Referee regarding his continued practice of law while suspended (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 21).

Mr. McAtee was unable to be honest and forthcoming in these proceedings. During [Respondent's] deposition, Bar Counsel specifically asked [Respondent] whether he had any direct contact with any clients during the period of his suspension to which Mr. McAtee responded no. Bar Counsel asked Mr. McAtee whether he had represented any clients before the Social Security Administration during the period of his suspension to which [Respondent] responded "no, I'm not doing that". Even at trial, before being presented with irrefutable evidence, [Respondent] denied contact with any clients regarding any legal matters he was handling (citations omitted).

(TFB Comp. 1, ROR, pp. 15-16).

At the reinstatement trial, Respondent answered Bar Counsel's question, "And have you practiced law at all since August, 1992 in the State of Florida?" by saying, "As an attorney, no". (TFB Comp. 1, ROR p. 8) After evidence of Respondent's appearance before an administrative law judge was introduced, the Referee asked Respondent whether his appearance before an

administrative law judge on April 22, 1993 was his only appearance before an administrative law judge. Respondent again lied, as this Referee previously found, by telling this Referee that he had not otherwise appeared before an administrative law judge (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 16).

When confronted at the reinstatement supplemental hearing on July 26, 1993 with the overwhelming evidence of his continued practice of law, Respondent stated, "I have got my back against the wall, because my expenses have gone on and on and on" (TFB Comp. 5, p. 30).

This Referee said in his report in the reinstatement, "Mr. McAtee has not been truthful with The Florida Bar or this Referee.... These were knowing misrepresentation to the tribunals and to the clients and to this Referee" (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 21). The Referee continued, "Mr. McAtee's actions throughout this proceeding were designed to elude, evade and mislead The Florida Bar and this Referee from discovering the truth. It is unknown whether this Referee knows, to date, the truth of all of Mr. McAtee's actions during his suspension. It is unlikely that the actions discovered herein include all of his misconduct" (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 23-24).

Respondent misled Mr. Howell, Respondent's bankruptcy client, as to Mr. Howell's need to obtain another attorney (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 14). Mr. Howell testified that it would have been in his best interests to get another attorney (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 14).

By Respondent's actions before Social Security Administration, at least one client's matter stands to be dismissed (TFB Comp. 1, ROR, p. 10; TFB Comp. 3, Exh. 18, Case 4).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Respondent was suspended for 91 days effective August 10, 1992. At all times since then, Respondent has remained suspended from the practice of law in this state. During the course of the proceedings regarding Respondent's petition for reinstatement, Respondent was found to have practiced law during the term of his suspension and to have lied to the Referee and The Florida Bar about his unauthorized practice, which resulted in his petition for reinstatement being denied. The Florida Bar, having become aware of Respondent's extensive practice of law

while suspended by this Court and the fact that Respondent deliberately lied to the Referee and The Florida Bar in the reinstatement matter, believes that Respondent should no longer be entitled to be a member of The Florida Bar. No breaches of a lawyer's duty to the Court are more serious than violating this Court's order and then lying about it.

The Referee erred in failing to consider Respondent's false testimony and knowing misrepresentations regarding his continued practice of law while suspended as an aggravating factor in this contempt proceeding.

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