0x7 FILED

MAR 31 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By _____

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant/Appellant,

v

CASE NUMBER 83,174
TFB File No. 94-00481-01A

JAMES R. MCATEE,

Respondent/Appellee.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

John A. Weiss
WEISS & ETKIN
Attorney Number 0185229
2937 Kerry Forest Parkway
Suite B-2
Tallahassee, Florida 32308
(904) 893-5854
COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT/APPELLEE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Respondent in proceedings below, James R. McAtee, is the Appellee in these proceedings. He will be referred to as either Mr. McAtee or as the Respondent. The Appellant, The Florida Bar, will be referred to as the Bar throughout these proceedings.

References to the referee's report, the transcript of final hearing, and the exhibits will be by the same nomenclature used by The Florida Bar in its initial brief. As is also true in the Bar's brief, SSA will refer to the Social Security Administration and ALJ will refer to Administrative Law Judges in SSA proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Respondent accepts the statement of the case and of the facts as set forth by The Florida Bar in pages two through nine of its brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. McAtee argues that the referee's recommendation that he be suspended for two years <u>nunc pro tunc</u> June 19, 1993, is the appropriate discipline to impose for his conduct. Disbarment, as argued by the Bar, is far too harsh considering the circumstances of this case. The referee found, and the evidence was unrebutted, that Mr. McAtee appeared in no Florida courts during his suspension. No clients were prejudiced by his actions. He accepted no fees for his actions. Most significant, however, was the referee's finding that Mr. McAtee labored under the impression

that a suspended lawyer could practice before the SSA. That belief was predicated upon Mr. McAtee's service as chairman of the Bar's unlicensed practice of law committee for his circuit. During his term as chair, the UPL committee investigated the representation of clients by non-Florida lawyers before the SSA and determined that it was proper.

In determining the discipline to be imposed, the referee considered the relevant case law. All of the cases cited by the Bar involved facts far more egregious than those appearing in the instant case or they involved instances where lawyers refused to appear before the Supreme Court during the contempt proceedings. The cases cited by Mr. McAtee all point towards the appropriateness of the referee's recommendation.

In determining the discipline to be imposed in the instant case, the referee considered Mr. McAtee's testimony in his reinstatement proceedings. In fact, the referee in the instant proceedings was the same referee before whom Mr. McAtee testified before. The referee's findings and conclusions regarding the significance of the past testimony, the reasons for it, and Mr. McAtee's testimony in the contempt proceedings, all factored into his decision. Because the referee was the person before whom the improper testimony was given, his decision regarding the sanction should be given great weight.

The referee had competent, substantial evidence before him supporting his finding that Mr. McAtee did not appear before any Florida judges during his suspension and that his practice before the SSA was predicated upon a mistaken belief that he could appear before that agency.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE REFEREE DID NOT FAIL TO CONSIDER RESPONDENT'S TESTIMONY DURING THE REINSTATEMENT PROCEEDINGS REGARDING HIS PRACTICE WHILE SUSPENDED.

The referee presiding over the instant contempt proceedings was the same referee who heard Mr. McAtee's testimony in his unsuccessful bid for reinstatement. The referee clearly considered that testimony when he recommended a discipline. If anyone was to be offended by Mr. McAtee's testimony in the reinstatement case, it was the referee that presided over these contempt proceedings. That same referee recommended that Mr. McAtee be suspended for two years nunc pro tunc to June 19, 1993.

The referee was obviously aware of and considered Respondent's testimony in the reinstatement proceedings when he made his recommendation in the instant case. The Bar argued at final hearing that the prior testimony should be considered in determining a discipline for the contempt. In paragraph 22 of his report, the referee refers to Mr. McAtee's prior testimony. In that paragraph, the referee first rejected the Bar's invitation that Mr. McAtee be held in contempt for his testimony in the reinstatement proceedings. (On page 11 of its initial brief in the instant appeal, the Bar notes that it is not asking this Court to hold Mr. McAtee in contempt for his testimony during the reinstatement case.)

In paragraph 22, the referee noted

That Respondent's candor before the court was a factor in the denial of the petition for

reinstatement and thereby extending his suspension to at least two and one-half years duration rather than the original 91 days.

That the referee was more than aware of Mr. McAtee's testimony in the reinstatement proceedings was made apparent when he stated that

I would further note that the bulk of the Bar's perceived perjury [in the reinstatement case] comes from Respondent's belief that practicing before the SSA was not the practice of law. ROR, par. 12.

The referee had the opportunity to personally observe Mr. McAtee's testimony at both the reinstatement proceedings and in the contempt proceedings. In the latter, an explanation was given for Mr. McAtee's refusal to acknowledge practicing law while testifying in the reinstatement case. In essence, Mr. McAtee believed that his conduct did not constitute the practice of law because it was in SSA administrative proceedings. That the referee did not specifically declare the testimony in the reinstatement proceedings to be an "aggravating" factor does not mean that it was not considered during the proceedings. His specific reference to Mr. McAtee's prior testimony makes it apparent that he considered it when he recommended a two year suspension.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, effective January 1, 1987, give a referee wide latitude in determining the discipline to be imposed. Standard 9.1, in discussing aggravation and mitigation in general, states:

After misconduct has been established, aggravating and mitigating circumstances <u>may</u> <u>be considered</u> in deciding what sanction to impose. (Emphasis supplied).

It is apparent that the referee considered Mr. McAtee's testimony in the reinstatement proceedings when he determined the sanction in these contempt proceedings. He has wide latitude in recommending the discipline and that recommendation will be upheld absent a showing that it is erroneous, unlawful or unjustified.

ISSUE II

THE REFEREE PROPERLY CONSIDERED AS MITIGATION THAT (1) RESPONDENT'S PRACTICE OF LAW WHILE SUSPENDED WAS NOT BEFORE ANY FLORIDA STATE COURTS AND (2) RESPONDENT'S PRACTICE BEFORE THE SOCIAL SECURITY ADMINISTRATION WAS UNDER A MISTAKEN BELIEF THAT HE COULD APPEAR AS A LAY REPRESENTATIVE.

In paragraph 18 of his report, the referee found that

Mr. McAtee appeared in no Florida courts during the period of his suspension. TR 20.

The Bar presented no evidence to rebut Mr. McAtee's testimony to that effect and, accordingly, that factual finding by the referee must be upheld. The Florida Bar v McKenzie, 442 So.2d 934 (Fla. 1983).

While the referee's finding that Mr. McAtee appeared in no Florida courts, standing alone, would be a major factor to consider in determining if Respondent acted in contempt of the Florida Supreme Court for practicing while suspended, the main thrust of this finding is how it is applied to Mr. McAtee's belief that practice before the SSA was appropriate. Immediately after the above quoted language in paragraph 18 of his report, the referee went on to find that

During the time that [Mr. McAtee] had been chairman of the local unlicensed practice of law (UPL) committee in the First Judicial

Circuit, the issue of non-lawyer representation before the SSA arose. It was determined that, in fact, it was entirely proper for non-lawyers to appear before that agency. TR 17-19. Accordingly, Respondent assumed that appearing before the SSA during his suspension, since a license to practice law was not required, was not contempt of court.

The referee made the above quoted factual finding after listening to testimony from Mr. McAtee. He was in a position to observe the candor of the witness and he determined that Mr. McAtee's actions were governed by his knowledge gleaned during his chair of a UPL committee. That factual finding is supported by competent evidence and, accordingly, must be upheld. The Florida Bar v McKenzie, 442 So.2d 934 (Fla. 1983).

Mr. McAtee properly stayed out of Florida courtrooms. Had he known it was improper, he would also have stayed out of SSA hearing rooms.

It is clear that Mr. McAtee was laboring under the impression that practice before the SSA was akin to practice before the Bar of another state. Mr. McAtee would not have been in contempt of the Florida Supreme Court if he practiced in the courts of Alabama during his suspension. While the analogy is not precise, in Mr. McAtee's mind practicing before the federal SSA bar was not contempt of the Florida Supreme Court.

It is significant to note that, as found by the referee, Mr. McAtee received no fees for any work done during his suspension. ROR 19.

It is apparent that much of Mr. McAtee's contemptuous conduct was predicated upon his belief that a 91 day suspension was one that would only last three months or so. Had he been experienced in disciplinary proceedings, he never would have made that assumption. But, as a novice in the grievance process, he mistakenly believed that he would be reinstated within a short time after his suspension ended. When viewed in that light, his failure to withdraw from his state court cases (although he made provisions to care for the clients' matters during the suspension) becomes more understandable. T 28, 29.

The Bar also tends to ignore the fact that Mr. McAtee notified his clients (or at least 44 of the 45 clients he had) of the suspension by sending them a copy of the Court's order imposing that sanction.

The Bar seems to argue to this Court that the referee found Mr. McAtee not guilty of contempt for his SSA practice. This is not true. The referee, however, observed that Mr. McAtee was under the belief that SSA practice was preempted by federal law, see Sperry v Florida, 373 U.S. 379, 83 S.Ct. 1322, 10 L.Ed. 2nd 428 (1963). Mr. McAtee believed that his SSA practice did not constitute contempt of the Supreme Court of Florida because it was not within the Florida judicial system. The referee properly considered that belief in his determination of the sanction to be imposed.

The referee's factual finding regarding Mr. McAtee's belief is further buttressed by the Bar's own witness. The referee specifically found in paragraph 16 of his report as follows:

While counsel for the SSA opined that a suspended lawyer could not practice before that agency, he was unable to cite any controlling authority for his opinion. TFB Comp. 5, p. 22.

The lack of controlling authority to buttress SSA's opinion is one more factor that could contribute to Mr. McAtee's mistaken belief that his practice before the SSA while suspended was appropriate.

In paragraph 17 of his report, the referee outlines Mr. McAtee's SSA practice. Of the sixteen cases in evidence, ten were pending at the onset of Mr. McAtee's order of suspension. He actually appeared before an ALJ on only two occasions. Although Mr. McAtee signed up six new cases after he was suspended, clearly improper, the referee found that Mr. McAtee "appeared before an ALJ in none of them" and received no fees in any of those cases. "Substitute counsel was obtained in most cases." Most importantly, the referee also found in paragraph 17 that:

There is no evidence of any client's position being prejudiced as a result of Respondent's conduct.

Referees in disciplinary proceedings must be given wide latitude in what they consider in determining discipline. After listening to Mr. McAtee's testimony before him, the referee found that Mr. McAtee:

Labored under the good faith, albeit mistaken, belief, that a suspended lawyer stood in the

same shoes as a non-lawyer as to eligibility to practice before the SSA. ROR, Par. 23.

That is a proper factor for a referee to consider in determining the sanction to be imposed for contemptuous conduct.

ISSUE III

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT MR. MCATEE BE SUSPENDED FOR TWO YEARS \underline{NUNC} \underline{PRO} \underline{TUNC} JUNE 19, 1993, IS AN APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE CONSIDERING ALL THE FACTORS PRESENT.

As the Appellant in these proceedings, The Florida Bar has the burden of proving to this Court that the referee's recommendation is "erroneous, unlawful or unjustified." Rule 3-7.7(c)(5). While the Bar properly points out that the scope of this Court's review of discipline is broader than its review of a referee's findings of fact, The Florida Bar v Anderson, 538 So.2d 852 (Fla. 1989), the referee's recommended discipline before this Court cloaked with "a presumption of correctness...." The Florida Bar v Niles, 644 So.2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1994).

In recommending disbarment, The Florida Bar ignores the bulk of this Court's decisions in disciplinary cases involving lawyers' contemptuous conduct. As elaborated on below, in paragraphs 25 through 35 of his report, the referee thoroughly considered this Court's past decisions on contempt matters and reached the conclusion that disbarment was not warranted. In so concluding, he was clearly influenced by this Court's pronouncements in The Florida Bar v Hirsch, 342 So.2d 970, 971 (Fla. 1977). There this Court stated:

[I] cannot say that the record here

establishes that this Respondent is one that has been demonstrated to fall within the class of lawyers "unworthy to practice law in this Disbarment is the extreme and state".... ultimate penalty in disciplinary proceedings. It occupies the same rung of the ladder in these proceedings as the death penalty in criminal proceedings. It is reserved, as the rules provides, for those who should not be permitted to associate with the honorable members of a great profession. disciplinary proceedings, as in But, in criminal proceedings, the purpose of the law is not only to punish but to reclaim those who violate the rules of the profession or the laws of the society of which they are a part.

Mr. McAtee does not appear before this Court arguing that he should not be disciplined. However, disbarment, the "extreme and ultimate penalty" is not the appropriate sanction to be visited for the misconduct found by the referee.

By demanding disbarment, The Florida Bar is ignoring the three purposes of discipline, as set forth by this Court in <u>The Florida Bar v Pahules</u>, 233 So.2d 130, 132 (Fla. 1970). The Bar skips over the first element of <u>Pahules</u>, protection of the public (the referee specifically found that Mr. McAtee received no fees for his work and no clients' positions were prejudiced) and they completely ignore the second purpose, that the sanction

Must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation.

Although the Bar alludes to 25 distinct acts which constitute the practice of law, the non-SSA matters are <u>de minimis</u> and one offset by Mr. McAtee's notifying his clients (or at least 44 of the 45 of them) of his suspension. The bulk of his "practice" was

before the SSA. Mr. McAtee believed it was appropriate for him to appear before that administration during his suspension. He was also operating under the mistaken belief that a 91 day suspension was just that. These two factors explain his conduct.

The main fallacy in the Bar's argument is that it has ignored the extent of Mr. McAtee's "practice" while he was suspended. The Bar would have this Court consider a motion for continuance the equivalent to conducting a five day trial. In only two instances did Mr. McAtee actually appear before an administrative judge, and those were before the SSA. Virtually every instance the Bar complains about was an SSA matter and, as the referee properly found, Mr. McAtee was acting under the belief that he could appear before the SSA during his suspension.

The Bar completely ignores the fact that there is no evidence indicating Mr. McAtee appeared before any Florida court during his suspension.

The Bar's reference on page 19 of its initial brief to Standard 8.1 of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions proves up Mr. McAtee's argument that disbarment is inappropriate. As quoted by the Bar, Standard 8.1 states that disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer

Intentionally violates the terms of a prior disciplinary order and such violation causes injury to a client, the public, the legal system, or the profession:

The referee, after observing Mr. McAtee's testimony, found that he acted under the mistaken belief that he could appear before the SSA while suspended. Accordingly, there is no "intentional"

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